FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/18/2022 11:11 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101417-1 (Court of Appeals No. 55859-9-II)

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

THOMAS J YOUNG

Petitioner,

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES, STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DR. THOMAS J. YOUNG Pro se

DR. THOMAS J. YOUNG 8909 Gravelly Lake Drive SW Lakewood, WA. 98499-3101 Telephone: (253) 584-1144 Facsimile: (253) 588-5060

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Dr. Thomas J. Young, pro se.

II. DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS

Young prays for review of the COA-II decision, *Dr. Thomas J. Young v. Washington State Department of Labor & Industries, No. 55859-9-II (July 12, 2022).*(Appendix A) which affirmed the SC's judgment affirming the May 2017 board decision and order. The board's decision and order affirmed DLI's January 4, 2016 order. Young timely motioned the COA for reconsideration, *Dr. Thomas J. Young v. Washington State Department of Labor and Industries No. 55859-9-II (October 3, 2022).*(Appendix B).

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. There are no directly applicable Supreme Court or published COA decisions per item (1) or (2) of RAP 13.4(b), as this matter is unique and first coming. The uniqueness of this decision, which included unique COA

interpretation of applicable statutes, codes and contract language was recognized by both DLI and Young. DLI made application to COA for the decision to be published. COA ruled against publishing this decision on October 3, 2022. Appendix C. Because unpublished decisions have no precedential value and are not binding on any court but, if cited, may be used for "such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate" [GR 14.1], review is warranted because the decision involves an issue of substantial public interest for all injured workers and those providers who care for them. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case originates under Title 51. The board decision held that the January 4, 2016 order is correct, even though it was untimely, illegally, and wrongfully worded per the facts which founded the May 26, 2016, Stay decision. Young appeals because the board's findings are

not supported by substantial evidence, and its conclusions of law are unsupported by those findings.

Additionally, the statutory foundation of the board's decision disregards its own prior written orders already adjudicated in the Stay decision. Furthermore, the board's decision is fatally flawed by its disregard of multiple governing statutes and codes, predominantly RCW 51.52.070, RCW 51.52.075. As a result, in multiple and egregious ways, Young is denied due process.

Further, this case concerns DLI's decision to terminate Young as a provider without complying with RCW 51.52.050 and by wrongful employment of RCW 51.52.075. Absent a final order, DLI is stayed, first statutorily, by RCW 51.52.050 and secondly by the IAJ May 26, 2016 stay order, from discontinuing provider services to injured workers. RCW 51.52.050 mandates a hearing and dictates that DLI's order is not final pending review by the board. Even after the board's May 26, 2016

order that DLI violated Young's statutory framework of RCW 51.52.050 and 51.36.010(2)(c) and ordered a Stay of the January 4, 2016 order, DLI continued undeterred to aggressively and unconscionably violate Young's due process and deprive him of his constitutionally protected interest in treating injured workers. Due process and contract violations by DLI against Young were wrongfully affirmed by the board, then, while violating RCW 51.52.115 itself, the SC upheld the board's decision which was itself upheld by COA.

v. ARGUMENT

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only, (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should determine.

Young petitions this Supreme Court to review the COA decision pursuant to items (3) and (4). This is a broadly applicable case that affects all Washington State medical providers who contract with DLI and affects all Washington State workers who become injured on the job and, for both groups that, they may have a reasonable expectation that 1) statute and codes will be followed by DLI, the board, SC and COA, 2) providers contracted with DLI are not intimidated by DLI, 3) that DLI's provider network is unconstitutional and conflicts with the founding legislative intent that injured workers can choose their own physician and not be forced to use a DLI contracted and controlled physician, and 4) that DLI's violation of RCW 51.52.050 and the statutory stay is a violation of the provider contract and is an unconstitutional taking of private property and property rights when done before a hearing. RCW 51.52.050. There are no directly applicable Supreme Court or published COA decisions per item (1)

or (2) as this matter is unique and first coming. The uniqueness of this decision, which included unique and aberrant COA interpretation of applicable statutes, codes, and contract language was recognized by DLI and Young.

DLI made application to COA for the decision to be published. Young, opposed publication. COA ruled against publishing this decision on October 3, 2022 (Appendix C).

Young requests that the Supreme Court review the interpretation and application of statutes, codes, contract language, and constitutional grounds, which the COA has universally misinterpreted to the detriment of Young.

The statutory appeal algorithm is clearly written, easily read, and is not ambiguous or burdensome to follow. But were the statutory appeal guidelines adhered to and clearly written administrative codes and contract language followed by the judiciary that a remanding of his appeal for correct interpretation under the statutes, codes, and

contract language would resolve the issues on appeal favorably for Young. Finally, the legislature formalized clear statutory appeal language such that providers can readily comprehend and make reliable decisions regarding the application of that appeal language. The COA's decision turns that unambiguous language on its head and makes appeals uncertain and subject to judicial whim. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) when the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A. Overview of statutes and codes regulating DLI, Board, SC, and the appeal algorithm as relevant to this appeal

Foundationally RCW 51.56.010(2)(c) provides providers the "force of a contract" and therefore the privileges, expectations, and adjudications equivalent to contract law. The DLI violated the provider contract and the IAJ explicitly cited those contract and statute

violations as the basis for the May 26, 2016 stay but that unappealed decision was wrongfully swept aside by COA.

Beginning with RCW 51.36.100, RCW 51.36.100, and WAC 296-20-02010, DLI is authorized to audit all activities related to doing any business with DLI. If an audit has found wrongdoing, RCW 51.52.050 authorizes DLI to construct an order and dictates what an order must feature to be legal, authorizes a 20-day appeal deadline for strictly billing appeals, 60 days for all other appeals and, expressly provides a statutory stay if an appeal is filed. The DLI composed three orders on August 10, 2015, superseded and corrected that order on September 25, 2015 and affirmed an order on January 4, 2016. All three DLI orders contained embedded statute and contract violating language which DLI used to inflict massive financial and professional damages onto Young in an unconstitutional taking of Young's property prior to a lawful hearing and unconstitutionally interfere with due

process. Those wrongful clauses in the three orders were identified and found to be illegal by the IAJ in the May 26, 2015 unappealed decision. COA errs and holds DLI harmless.

Complimenting RCW 51.52.050, WAC 296-20-01080(6) dictates that DLI orders also, identify the reason and RCW 34.05.434 shows legislative intent calling for a "plain statement of the matters" which is also reasonable under contract law. Two DLI orders only mentioned that Young was being "monitored" by DOH and listed several codes, the third included nothing additional. The term "monitored" is not found anywhere in relevant statute or code. The vast majority of additional DLI allegations bypassed RCW 51.52.050 and were wrongfully introduced via RCW 51.52.075 thus violating multiple preceding statutes, codes, provider contract and contract law. COA errs by allowing allegations not identified in an RCW 51.52.050 complaint order. WAC 263-12-050(2)

dictates the acceptable contents of an appeal. WAC 263-12-050(d) further demands that the "NOA" feature a "statement of the facts in full detail". Young complied with this and in Young's NOA, Young addressed the only cited allegation which was "monitored".

RCW 51.52.060 affirms the above and directs the appeal to board. It begins the formal appeal and creates the phase, "NOA" which becomes the golden thread that ties together all the following appeal activities. Board assigned Young's "NOA" docket No. 16 P1061. COA errs by allowing allegations subsequent to the accepted "NOA"

RCW 51.52.070 formalizes the "NOA" and then statutorily, irrevocably waives all matters not specifically addressed in the "NOA". From this point forward there can be no other issues brought forward absent a restart of the above algorithm which begins with an investigation and audit and then an order under RCW 51.52.050 and following. Young's "NOA" addressed only "monitored"

which was the only allegation identified in the DLI orders. Young asserts that any allegation beyond what was cited in DLI's orders and Young's "NOA" should have been irrevocably waived per statute. COA errs by allowing the board IAJ to disregard the governing statutes and allow DLI to continue to add allegations.

Per RCW 51.52.050, an appellant may opt for reconsideration. All the formalities of the appeal remain in force including the statutory stay. Young began the appeal process with a reconsideration request dated September 28, 2015. WAC 296-20-01090(4) expressly limits DLI to 90 days, without any provision for extension, to make a reconsideration decision upon expiration of the DLI order. Young asserts that on August 10, 2015 that DLI sent its original order. Young had 60 days to appeal. DLI in breach of RCW 51.52.050 and the provider contract immediately began damaging Young and ordering patients to leave Young's medical practice. DLI, even

after damaging Young, superseded and corrected its order on September 25, 2015 which Young responded to with a reconsideration request on September 28, 2015. DLI replied to Young also on September 28, 2015. Young affirmed the reply on October 1, 2015. DLI did not respond. DLI was deep in the throes of violating the statutory stay and provider contract and damaging Young such that Young resent the reconsideration request clearly labeled "second request". Again, DLI did not respond. Both Young and DLI knew that the September 28, 2015 single DLI reply had begun the 90-day reconsideration period exactly as DLI's reply so stated and so quoted WAC 296-20-01090(4) there in. Young asserts that the 90-day limit was exceeded by DLI by 7 days thus expiring DLI's order prior to DLI's January 4, 2016 reply. COA errs and without foundation, overruled DLI's written start date and instead assigns Young's second request missive of October 10, 2015 as the new

start date thus artfully making DLI's late response timely even though there is no evidence that DLI even received or replied to Young's resending the request.

WAC 263-12-065 requires board to review the "NOA" for sufficiency, WAC 263-12-080 addresses insufficient "NOA" and corrections. WAC 263-12-060 provides "NOA" filing deadlines. RCW 51.52.095 calls for a conference with board for settlement, simplification of issues and subsequent course of board hearings. WAC 263-12-090 sets the conference scheduling, WAC 263-12-095 sets conference procedures, (2) simplification of the NOA, (2)(a) amendments to the NOA. Young asserts that these actions, all based upon DLI's September and January orders and Young's "NOA" were done such that RCW 51.52.070 was then fully in effect.

Young asserts following this point there is absolutely no provision for amendments, additions, or alterations of the originating DLI order and, at this point the "NOA" has

been formally limited by RCW 51.52.070 and all issues not presently included in the "NOA" are irrevocably "waived". Young asserts COA error for allowing DLI, in complicity with board, to violate RCW 51.52.070 and allow additional allegations via the wrongful use of RCW 51.52.075.

Indeed, the legislature had recognized that, if DLI did an audit and formalized an order under RCW 51.52.050 determining that a provider was actively harming patients and the provider appealed the order, then RCW 51.52.075 was provided as a tool to immediately suspend the provider pending the outcome of the appeal. This statute begins with the phrase, "When a provider files an appeal".

This highly specific phrase dictates immediacy and intimacy with the NOA. It is based strictly upon the appeal. It is not a tool to supplement, add or expand the originating DLI order currently under appeal. It is a dependent statute that can not bypass or precede RCW

51.52.050. It features the specific term, "harm". This makes it further dependent up the the definition of harm specifically quantified and qualified in WAC 296-20-01100. It demands an expedited hearing per WAC 263-12-106. Young alleges COA error for not striking from the record DLI's entire petition for immediate suspension along with all of its proceedings because, 1) a petition under RCW 51.52.075 foremost should closely, if not exactly mirror the allegations made under RCW 51.52.050, and second, be limited by the issues in the "NOA" under RCW 51.52.060 which have then been confirmed under RCW 51.52.070, 2) RCW 51.52.075 is not a tool to expand allegations or add new allegations 3) the term "When" directs proximity, not 109 days since the "NOA or 288 days from the original August 10, 2015 order 4) this petition cannot be employed if there is absolutely no harm. Young asserts that COA advances an untruth of omission by stating that Young had 4 patients who

testified for him, when in truth, it was the exact 4 patients that DLI audited and claimed Young had harmed but, these 4 patients adamantly denied harm such that without harm RCW 51.52.075 has no business being employed by DLI, accepted by board, or affirmed by COA. To this date, nobody can identify what the harm was to those 4 patients. Young doesn't know. The 4 patients do not know. Board, SC, COA cannot tell us but instead rely solely upon DLI's litany of paid witnesses all claiming harm but never identifying what the harm was or how the allegation of harm conforms to the harm guidelines in WAC 296-20-01100, 5) this statute further requires an expedited hearing date. Young alleges that a hearing date 107 days later, with a board decision 30 days after which came 10 days after Young had made his required initial presentation in board hearing for P1061 is an absurdity and a violation of RCW 51.52.075 and 51.52.070. Young further alleges COA error allowing board's creation of

P0001 which violated RCW 51.52.050. If P0001 was separate, as COA wrongfully alleges, then P0001 should have its roots in RCW 51.52.050 which it does not because it was an illegal creation under RCW 51.52.075.

RCW 51.52.102 next directs the board hearing to address the "issues raised in the NOA". Young asserts that this is not a free form hearing for either party. It is limited to the issues in the "NOA" as refined by the above statutes and codes and WAC 263-12-125. Young alleges that board allowed DLI unfettered license to add allegations beyond the "NOA" such that there was no limit to the creative allegations from DLI which came after Young's testimony.

In conflict with RCW 51.36.010(2)(c) comes now WAC 263-12-115 and requires the appealing party to present first at hearing. Prior to RCW 51.36.010 this may have seemed reasonable because RCW 51.52.050 had made specific allegations, RCW 51.52.060 specified a formal

"NOA", RCW 51.52.070 had waived all other issues not in the "NOA" and RCW 51.52.102 directs board to hear the "issues raised in the NOA". But Young complains that the board abandoned the statutory appeal algorithm and allowed DLI to enter into hearing issues not present in its orders under RCW 51.52.050, issues therefore not addressed in Young's "NOA" under RCW 51.52.060 that were therefore supposed to have been irrevocably waived per RCW 51.52.070. Furthermore, board liberally allowed DLI to present additional allegations using RCW 51.52.075 which had not been included in any RCW 51.52.050 compliant order and which were in violation of the statutory appeal algorithm and specifically the definition, quantification and quantifications of harm dictated by WAC 296-20-01100 aptly titled "Risk of Harm". Young alleges that under contract law, RCW 51.36.010(2)(c), that he should not have been compelled by board to testify first and that WAC 263-12-115 is

unconstitutionally in conflict with the newly created provider network. Young argues that the entire hearing should be struck and redone in compliance with RCW 51.36.010(2)(c) and contract law.

Young asserts that contract law explicitly conflicts with WAC 263-12-115. Young asserts that he was at an explicit due process disadvantage. Previous to the hearing date DLI had chosen to violate RCW 51.52.050 and the statutory statute and purposefully and ongoing did hundreds of thousands of dollars damages to Young and his practice, wrote hundreds of letters ordering patients away from Young, sent a notice of exclusion to the National Provider Data Bank to affect other business contracts of Young, mailed letters directly to Young's business and referral contracts and stopped all medical payments to Young's clinic. DLI had openly included in all its orders language that stated that it intended to do the above violations. On May 26, 2016 a hearing was held

and an IAJ specifically citing RCW 51.52.050 and quoted the provider contract ordered DLI to stay its wrongful behavior. DLI refused to comply.

In complicity with board, DLI, 109 days, which was 288 days from DLI's initial August 8, 2015 order, wrongfully was allowed by board to make an immediate suspension petition employing RCW 51.52.075 and add additional allegations of harm independent of the definition, qualification and quantification of harm dictated by WAC 296-20-01100. board wrongfully accepted DLI's petition with new allegations instead of rejecting it for bypassing RCW 51.52.050, and .070. board wrongfully assigned the petition docket 16 P0001 and gave it a separate hearing date.

Per statutory algorithm, once Young had submitted his "NOA" and it was accepted by board, all other allegations were waived. If DLI's order and NOA met the definition of harm, the DLI could immediately petition for suspension.

Not 105 days later. Furthermore, the allegations in the petition should be an exact overlay of the allegations featured in DLI's initial order and in Young's "NOA". But they are not. Not even close. DLI used docket 16 P1061 in its petition heading. But board wrongfully reassigned it docket 16 P0001. So, is the petition under RCW 51.52.075 separate or the same? COA errs ruling it was separate therefore all of Young's supporting documents and affidavits used to win P0001 in board's October 10, 2016 decision are not applicable to the issues in P1061, and that SC was correct denying Young the inclusion of the P0001 defense documents into P1061. If indeed separate then collateral Estoppel and res judicata apply. COA reverses itself and errs claiming the issues were the same, but that board had narrowed its decision. COA cited the criteria for collateral estoppel. P0001 meets each criterion regardless of whether board narrowed its decision because all issues were heard and a final

decision made. If DLI didn't like the narrowed decision it was DLI's obligation to appeal. COA errs because all the issues were heard and a decision was made, narrowed or not.

Following the P0001 hearing, Young was compelled to testify on the same allegations 3 weeks later for the P1061 hearing. Going into the hearing, and standing without appeal was the May 26, 2016 stay hearing, which found that DLI was in violation (and remained in violation) of the stay, RCW 51.52.050, and provider contract. The IAJ found that DLI's orders had embedded statute and contract violating language that DLI was acting aggressively and wrongfully on. That standing, interlocutory decision language was ignored by the P1061 hearing IAJ even without re-argument. Young was ordered to re-present the same evidence as was presented 3 weeks earlier for P0001. Young assumed that the motions, briefs, and affidavits accepted in P0001

would be included in P1061, but board subsequently decided that even though P0001 began titled as P1061 it would re-title the docket as P0001 and deny the materials that Young had used successfully defending against P0001 allegations. In fact, the IAJ for P1061 rejected consideration of the final and standing board decisions. Subsequently, the SC reversed that decision and allowed the P0001 final decision then refused to allow the supporting documents or collateral estoppel or res judicata. COA erred and upheld the SC decision.

Following Young's testimony in P1061 came DLI's testimony. In violation of RCW 51.52.070, DLI was permitted by the IAJ to range far afield of RCW 51.52.102 and the contents of the NOA. In fact, DLI was allowed to sidestep much of the court room hearings and do perpetuation depositions outside Young's home venue and in violation of the criteria specified in WAC 263-12-117. DLI employed witnesses most who were not

professional peers of Young. Young asserts that SC and COA liberally expanded the definition and classification of the term peer. These witnesses all testified that Young had harmed 4 specific patients. These 4, in affidavit and in person testimony denied harm. COA errs allowing SC expanded definition of peers, home venue and disregard of WAC 263-12-117.

For P1061, the board found against Young and folded in all the allegations heard under P0001. board found that Young had harmed those 4 patients that DLI, using RCW 51.52.075 and circumventing RCW 51.52.050 had alleged harm by Young. board, SC and COA all concluded that Young had harmed the 4 patients even though the harm has never been identified or none of DLI's witnesses had ever even met the patients. WAC 295-20-01100 which defines harm was ignored by the judiciary. COA, erring in its decision against Young mentions the 4 patients but fails to acknowledge that these were not random patients

but were the exact 4 patients that submitted affidavits of support for Young denying all harm in P0001 and testified in person denying harm and praising Young's medical care. Wrongfully, the IAJ accepted DLI's paid witness testimony, who had never met or examined these 4 patients of harm over that of the 4 patients and Young's testimony explicitly denying any harm which is a violation of RCW 51.12.010.

Young appealed the P1061 decision to SC. WAC 263-12-135 dictates that all hearing records are to be forwarded to SC. Young motioned that the P0001 records be included in the appeal. board refused to submit the P0001 records. COA erred and agreed with SC that P0001 was separate but reversed the board and decided that the P0001 decision alone should be included. But, even after claiming P0001 as separate, the SC and COA then reverse face and wrongfully deny Young collateral estoppel and res judicata.

Once the P1061 hearing was completed a PD&O per WAC 263-12-140 was issued. Young petitioned for review under WAC 263-12-145 and was denied by board.

Young appealed to SC under RCW 51.52.120 which dictates the appeal shall include the "NOA" which by then, the board had strayed vastly afield from, and the "NOA" had become a vestigial document due to multiple board abandonments of statutes and codes. The board under WAC 263-12-170 certified the record of P1061 to SC and omitted all P0001 records. For the SC appeal, RCW 51.52.115 becomes the guiding statute and instructs the SC to review "as was included in the NOA". This statute further instructs the court to make no decision until all the issues were heard. The SC on its own decision rejected the governing statute and like the board ranged far beyond the allegations in the originating DLI orders and Young's "NOA" and upheld the board decision and absolved DLI and board of all wrongdoing. The SC further rejected the legislative oversight and reasonable court guidelines and even though the legislature instructed that all issues were to be heard before pronouncing judgement and even though the court scheduling questionnaire asked how much time each party needed for their presentation and even though Young requested and prepared a four hour presentation, the SC hearing opened with an order that each party would be allowed only 45 minutes total for both presentation and rebuttal. This was 18.75% of Young's requested and prepared time. Young alleges COA error for approval of the SC's disregard of RCW 51.52.115 instructions.

B. COA errs in its interpretation and application of WAC 296-20-01030(8).

COA errs ruling that even though a section title of an administrative code does not apply, that a subsection that is entirely dependent upon the title, can nevertheless apply. Young asserts that when he was faced with the

alleged errors in his prescription writing that, rather than fighting over something that caused no harm and was essentially inconsequential, and because there was no mandate within WAC 296-20-01030(8) or in the provider contract or in any other DLI regulations which stipulate that he must have a DEA registration, that, most certainly a legal fight to retain a registration that was not wanted or needed made no sense. COA errs and rules otherwise. COA errs by accepting testimony that the DEA was prepared to bring administrative charges against Young when in fact, Young and the DEA both agreed to a DEAgenerated surrender form which specifically asserted no admission or assertion of wrongdoing. Young asserts that COA's error equivocates to a bait and switch such that providers can agree to something inconsequential, but that agreement then condemns them with untoward consequences. The COA decision that this code applied

to monitoring and that the codes section heading somehow applied to Young is additional error.

C. The COA errs in its interpretation and application of the January 26, 2015 contract, between Young and DLI.

COA errs in basic contract interpretations by ruling that DLI's May 28, 2014 order only audited billing. DLI cited broad authority under RCW 51.36.110 and WAC 296-20-02010. COA overlooked DLI's citations of two codes. WAC 296-20-125, a billing code, and WAC 296-20-01002, a non-billing code which demanded a \$4,964.96 refund. Young showed DLI it's errors. DLI offered the January 26, 2015 four corners settlement agreement. Young's attorney negotiated a complete cessation of all threatened audits, pleural. DLI agreed, in Item 5.6 "not to conduct retrospective audits of any time period prior to the effective date of this agreement" and again in item 7.1, that the agreement was "For the purpose of making a full and final and binding compromise, adjustment and

settlement of any and all claims, disputed or otherwise".

COA errs because neither statement limited to only billing.

COA errs by ruling the January 26, 2015 agreement, was strictly for billing audits when in fact 100% of DLI 's case materials audited were violation of this contract.

- D. The COA errs regarding Young's constitutional arguments.
- 1) COA errs in brushing aside Young's constitutional argument regarding DLI's newly created provider network. Young asserts that DLI desired control of both sides of the injury equation. To assert control, DLI approached the legislature in 2012 to allow it to construct a contracted list of approved providers for injured workers. With such a network, DLI now controls the benefits workers receive, and the network physicians dare not dispute DLI decisions upon fear of expulsion and unconstitutional takings by DLI. COA erred by overlooking that the original statute remains intact allowing workers unmolested

physician choice but the new network conflicts by now controlling the physician. COA's error leaves the injured worker void of an independent physician who can advocate and testify unmolested in a tort-based system. The creation of an exclusive network is counterproductive for having independent, worker-advocating physicians.

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