FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/20/2023 4:00 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101417-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THOMAS J. YOUNG,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6993

### **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

No review is necessary in this case. The Department properly removed Young from its provider network when he

acted outside his prescribing authority by prescribing narcotics, resulting in the surrender of his DEA license and associated DOH restrictions. Young argues that review should be granted because the Court of Appeals' opinion is unpublished, that his case presents "unique" issues without existing case law, and that these issues are of substantial public interest for workers and their providers. Pet. 2, 6. But nothing about this case presents an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) when appellate decisions are routinely unpublished, many statutes have no associated case law, and there is nothing unique about a party failing to comply with a regulatory mandate.

Young's petition merely reargues the merits of his case.

It does not warrant this Court's review.

### A. Revoking Provider Network Membership Is Appropriate when DEA Licensure Is Revoked

Substantial evidence supports removal of Young from the provider network. Young argues that his provider network enrollment shouldn't have been revoked when he surrendered

his prescriber registration to the DEA. Pet. 28-29. The Court of Appeals properly found otherwise. Slip op. 19-20.

One of the minimum provider network standards under WAC 296-20-01030 involves DEA registration. WAC 296-20-01030(8) states:

The provider must have a current Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) registration, if applicable to the provider's scope of licensure.

. .

(b) The provider must not have surrendered, voluntarily or involuntarily his or her DEA registration in any state while under investigation or due to findings resulting from the provider's acts, omissions, or conduct.

Young is correct that, as a naturopath and chiropractor, he need not have a DEA registration to be part of the Department's provider network. But where he errs is in his supposition that the surrender of his DEA registration is irrelevant to the Department's determination of his provider network eligibility. Subsection (b)'s mandate that providers in the network have not surrendered a DEA registration while

under investigation applies to him even though he did not need the registration to be admitted to the network.

Nor was this the only evidence supporting the revocation. Young likewise fell afoul of WAC 296-20-01030(7)(a)'s minimum standard because his license was not free from restrictions, limitations, or conditions. AR Dodge 28; AR Floyd 32-33; AR Rogers 18-19; AR Figueroa 15-17; AR Franke 28. This was because DOH was monitoring him and he was restricted from applying for a DEA registration. AR Rogers 19; AR Floyd 33. Dr. Figueroa explained, "as a medical professional, when someone's being monitored, [their license is] not free of restrictions." AR Figueroa 41-42; *see also* AR Floyd 30.

Because this undisputed evidence supports the

Department's revocation decision, for this reason alone, the

Court should deny review.

# B. The Department Properly Considered Young's Reconsideration Request Within the Regulatory Timeframe

Young argues that the Board erred by failing to find that the Department's order on reconsideration was untimely, and that because the order wasn't timely, the issues reached in that order were not before the Board or the superior court. Pet. 9-18, 20-21, 23, 26. The purpose of his argument is to contest the additional allegations about the surrender of his license to the DEA. Pet. 20-21.

WAC 296-20-01090(4) provides that motions for reconsideration in provider cases are to be considered within 90 days. This is directory in nature because the Department not meeting the deadline wouldn't invalidate any order. *See Spokane County ex rel. Sullivan v. Glover*, 2 Wn.2d 162, 169, 97 P.2d 628 (1940). In any event, Young is wrong that the decision wasn't reconsidered within the time limit.

Young claims that his request for reconsideration was sent on September 28, 2015, and therefore the Department's

January 4, 2016 order was filed more than 90 days later. Pet. 11-12. But Young's September 28 request for reconsideration related to the Department's August 2015 order. Exs 7-8. The Department's September 25, 2015 order superseded the August 2015 order. Ex 10. Young did not request reconsideration of the September 2015 order until October 7, 2015. Ex 11. The January 4, 2016 order was issued within 90 days of that date and therefore was timely.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the

Department timely considered Young's reconsideration motion.

Slip op. 26. There is no basis for review.

# C. The Billing Audit Has No Preclusive Effect on the Medical Practices Action

Young argues that a 2014 audit about billing precluded an investigation about his medical practices. Pet. 29-30. While the Department did an investigation into Young's billing practices in 2014, nothing about that investigation precluded the Department's DEA-related action at issue here. The May 2014 report on the Department's billing audit and investigation was

explicit that "medical necessity and quality of care provided to industrially ill or injured workers were not reviewed as part of this audit. . . . Because of the limited nature of the review, no implications as to the overall level of provider performance should be drawn solely from this report." Slip op. 18. Nothing about the billing audit prevented an inquiry into violation of DEA requirements and other medical practice issues.

### D. The Legality of the Department's Letter to Patients Is Not Before the Court

The Department sent letters to patients notifying them of the order revoking Young's ability to treat workers' compensation patients. Young argues that the Department shouldn't have sent the letter to Young's patients about his removal from the provider network before a final decision on his case. Pet. 19. Without citing to authority, Young says the Court of Appeals' ruling that the issue was not before the Court of Appeals is the "COA's most egregious error." Pet. 31.

RCW 51.36.010(9) provides:

When the department terminates a provider from the network, the department or self-insurer shall assist an injured worker currently under the provider's care in identifying a new network provider or providers from whom the worker can select an attending or treating provider. In such a case, the department or self-insurer shall notify the injured worker that he or she must choose a new attending or treating provider.

The Court of Appeals ruled that "DLI's letters may have been improper. . . . [But] even if these letters were improper, Young does not explain why that fact affects the validity of the September 2015 order and notice or the January 2016 order." Slip op. 37. This ruling is correct—the letters have no bearing on the merits of whether Young should have been removed from the provider network. And he has filed a separate tort action on this issue, which is presently pending before this Court on a procedural issue. *Young v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, No. 101452-0 (Wash. Jan. 9, 2023).

# E. Young's Remaining Issues Also Do Not Warrant Review

Young complains that he wanted four hours for his oral argument at the superior court, but only received 45 minutes.

Slip op. 27. Allowing 45 minutes of oral argument is well within the discretion of the trial court.

Young argues that the complete administrative record was not filed when the Board did not submit record "P0001" to the superior court. Pet. 26. This record was a separate administrative proceeding that wasn't appealed. Slip op. 33-34. Only the record on the order on appeal is transmitted. *See* RCW 51.52.110.

Young raises issues related to the findings that he didn't comply with minimum network standards. Pet. 24-25. The Court of Appeals didn't address this argument because it affirmed on the basis of the failure to comply with his DEA registration and the DOH restrictions on his license. Slip op. 24. This presents no basis for review.

Young argues that doctors that weren't his peers shouldn't have been able to testify. Pet. 23-24. This goes to the issue of minimum network standards and so isn't relevant to the issues presented for review. In any event, he presents no

authority that medical experts can't testify because of an assertion that they aren't peers.

Young argues about how the Board acted on the stay motion, claiming that the hearing was somehow in error. Pet. 22-23. But the Board's order on the stay motion didn't address the merits of the Department's order and is therefore irrelevant.

Young argues that creation of the provider network violates due process. Pet. 30-31. He provides no authority for this novel proposition. The Court of Appeals properly rejected the argument because "[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." Slip op. 38-39 (alteration in original) (quoting *Crystal Ridge Homeowners Ass'n v. City of Bothell*, 182 Wn.2d 665, 679, 343 P.3d 746 (2015).

None of Young's arguments show any reason for review.

### V. CONCLUSION

The Department asks that this Court deny review.

This document contains 3,061 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.